
 

 

 
CONSTITUTION AND MEMBERS' DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 

Date: Thursday 11 December 2025 
Time: 4.30 pm 

Venue: Mandela Room 

 
AGENDA 

 
 
1.   Welcome and Fire Evacuation Procedure 

 
In the event the fire alarm sounds attendees will be advised to 
evacuate the building via the nearest fire exit and assemble at 
the Bottle of Notes opposite MIMA. 
 

  

2.   Apologies 
 

  

3.   Declarations of Interest 
 

  

4.   Minutes of the Constitution and Members' Development 
Committee - 20 August 2025 
 

 3 - 4 

5.   Constitution Updates - Quarterly Report 
 

 5 - 12 

6.   Any other urgent items which in the opinion of the Chair, can 
be considered 
 

  

 
Charlotte Benjamin 
Director of Legal and Governance Services 

 
Town Hall 
Middlesbrough 
Wednesday 3 December 2025 
 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors J Banks (Chair), J Kabuye (Vice-Chair), D Coupe, D Jackson, L Lewis, 
T Livingstone, I Morrish, P Storey and L Young 
 
Assistance in accessing information 
 
Should you have any queries on accessing the Agenda and associated information 
please contact Claire Jones, (01642) 729112, claire_jones@middlesbrough.gov.uk 

Page 1



This page is intentionally left blank



Constitution and Members' Development Committee 20 August 2025 
 

 
 

CONSTITUTION AND MEMBERS' DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 
A meeting of the Constitution and Members' Development Committee was held on Wednesday 20 
August 2025. 

 
PRESENT:  
 

Councillors J Banks (Chair), J Kabuye (Vice-Chair), I Blades, D Coupe, D Jackson, 
L Lewis, I Morrish and P Storey 

 
OFFICERS: C Jones and C Benjamin 
 
APOLOGIES FOR 
ABSENCE: 

Councillors T Livingstone and L Young 

 
23/11 WELCOME AND FIRE EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

 
 The Chair welcomed all attendees to the meeting and explained the fire evacuation 

procedures. 
 

23/12 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 There were no declarations of interest received at this point in the meeting. 
 

23/13 MINUTES OF THE CONSTITUTION AND MEMBER'S DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE - 19 
DECEMBER 2024 
 

 The minutes of the Constitution and Member’s Development Committee meeting held on 19 
December 2024 were submitted and approved as a correct record. 
 

23/14 REFRESH OF THE CONSTITUTION 
 

 The Director of Legal and Governance Services presented a report containing the full draft 
Constitution for consideration by the Members’ Development and Constitution Committee, 
which was the body responsible for making recommendations to Council regarding the 
Constitution. 
 
The Council had recognised that improvements could be made to its governance processes, 
as set out in the Continuous Improvement Plan, with particular reference to the refresh of the 
Constitution to ensure that it was accurate and current. 
 
The Constitution was last updated in September 2023. It was a living document that evolved 
continuously to reflect the ever-changing environment in which the Council operated; 
nationally, regionally and locally. The Monitoring Officer therefore had ongoing responsibility 
to ensure that the Constitution remained accurate and lawful, and had delegated authority to 
make some changes, which were then reported to the next meeting of Council. More 
fundamental changes were approved by Full Council. 
 
Members were aware that issues of omissions, duplication and inconsistency had been 
identified, which was not unusual given the dynamic and complex environment in which the 
Council operated. The whole Constitution had therefore been reviewed as one coherent 
document with a view to ironing out the issues and ensuring that the Constitution appropriately 
reflected the Council’s governance and operating arrangements. 
 
Most of the work on the Constitution refresh had been agreed through the Constitution and 
Member Development Working Group (the ‘Working Group’). The Working Group had 
included members of the CMDC during the previous and current municipal year; the current 
membership included members of the CMDC for both municipal years plus group leaders. The 
Working Group had met 6 times over the course of the Constitution refresh, to discuss in 
detail the proposed amendments to the Constitution. Additionally, the Monitoring Officer had 
met with the Labour group members and, separately, with non-Labour group members to 
engage regarding key questions about the Constitution that required a Member steer. All of 
those engaged with have had a copy of the working draft of the Constitution document, to 
comment on. 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



20 August 2025 

 

 
Following the engagement sessions the Constitution had been drafted with a number of 
provisions that were outlined within the report and considered by Members at the meeting.  
Members were also asked to consider the following tabled items; 

 A revised timetable for Full Council Meetings, moving from a 6 to 8 weekly cycle. 

 Further proposed amendments to the Constitution on Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 Further Proposed Amendments to the Constitution on Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
Consideration was given to the draft Constitution, during which Members raised several 
proposed amendments and queries. 
 
ORDERED that, the Constitution and Members Development Committee: 

 Considered and discussed the proposed refreshed Constitution at Appendix 1, the 
tabled further proposed amendments and revised schedule for Full Council meetings. 

 Provided comments in respect of the refresh of the Constitution at the meeting. 

 Subject to the updates and amendments to the refreshed Constitution agreed at 
Committee, approved the draft Constitution for recommendation to Full Council. 

 Subject to the amendments agreed at Committee, approved the revised Full Council 
schedule for recommendation to Full Council. 

 
 

23/15 ANY OTHER URGENT ITEMS WHICH IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIR, CAN BE 
CONSIDERED 
 

 None. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 4



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

MIDDLESBROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
Report of: Director of Legal & Governance Services – Charlotte Benjamin 

 

Relevant Executive 
Member: 

Not applicable 

 

Submitted to: Constitution and Member Development Committee 

 

Date: 11 December 2025 

 

Title: Constitution Updates – Quarterly Report 

 

Report for: Decision 

 

Status: Public 

 

Council Plan 
priority: 

Delivering Best Value 

 

Key decision: Not applicable 

Why: Not applicable 

 

Subject to call in? Not applicable 

Why: Not a report under the executive procedures 

 

 
 

Executive summary  

The Constitution and Member Development Committee (‘CMDC’) reviewed the 
Constitution and the updated version was approved by Full Council on 10th September 
2025. 
 

Proposed decision(s) 

That Constitution and Member Development Committee: 
 
APPROVES the schedule of suggested amendments to the Constitution to be taken to 
Full Council for consideration.  
 
NOTES the amendments to be made to the Constitution by the Monitoring Officer under 
the delegated authority as set out at Section 2.4 of the Constitution, and which will be 
reported to the next meeting of Full council.  
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

As per Section 2.3 of the Constitution it is the Monitoring Officer’s responsibility to 
monitor, review and update the Constitution. As part of the monitoring, it was agreed that 
a quarterly report will be provided to this committee.  
 
The Constitution is a living document that necessitates regular review and revision to 
ensure ongoing compliance with applicable legislation and established procedures, as 
well as to promote clarity and ease of use. 
 
This report sets out the suggested minor amendments that will be actioned under the 
delegated authority given to the Monitoring Officer, and a schedule of suggested 
amendments for approval and recommendation to Full Council.  
 
The Monitoring Officer will also undertake an annual review of the Constitution, which 
shall be reported to Full Council  
 
The implications of the recommendations have been considered by the appropriate 
officers of the Council and are set out in the main body of the report. 
 
 

 
  

Page 6



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

 
1. Purpose of this report and its contribution to the achievement of the Council Plan 

ambitions 
 

1.1 The Constitution and Member Development Committee (‘CMDC’) reviewed the full 
Constitution and the updated version was approved by Full Council on 10th September 
2025. 
 

1.2 In order to ensure continued clarity and usability it was agreed that a regular quarterly 
report would be presented to CMDC to consider any suggested amendments 
 

1.3 This report sets out the suggested minor amendments that will be actioned under the 
delegated authority given to the Monitoring Officer, and a schedule of suggested 
amendments for approval and recommendation to Full Council. 
 

1.4 Its contribution to the achievement of the Council Plan ambitions is as follows: 
 

Our ambitions Summary of how this report will support delivery of these 
ambitions and the underpinning aims 

A successful and 
ambitious town 

 
A regularly reviewed and up to date Constitution is required 
to reflect the law, local custom and practice, and to ensure 
good governance when making decisions to support the 
achievement of the Council Plan ambitions in all areas. 

A healthy Place 

Safe and resilient 
communities 

Delivering best value 

 
2. Recommendations  

 
2.1 That the Constitution and Member Development Committee: 

 

 APPROVES the schedule of suggested amendments to the Constitution to be taken to 
Full Council for consideration.  
 

 NOTES the amendments to be made to the Constitution by the Monitoring Officer 
under the delegated authority as set out at Section 2.4 of the Constitution, and which 
will be reported to the next meeting of Full Council.  

 
3. Rationale for the recommended decision(s) 

 
3.1 The Constitution is a living document that necessitates regular review and revision to 

ensure ongoing compliance with applicable legislation and established procedures, as 
well as to promote clarity and ease of use. 

 
4. Background and relevant information 

 
4.1 Section 2.3 of the Constitution sets out how and when the Constitution is monitored and 

reviewed, and says as follows: 
 
2.3.1 It is the Monitoring Officer’s responsibility to monitor, review and update the 
Constitution in accordance with the requirements of this Section 2 and any authority 

Page 7



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

delegated to them. The Monitoring Officer should undertake an annual review of the 
Constitution, which shall be reported to Council.  
 
2.3.2 Revisions to the Constitution will have regard to: 
  

(a) the effectiveness of the Council’s decision-making processes and its operation; 
(b) issues raised by the Mayor, Councillors, Officers, the public and other relevant 
stakeholders;  
(c) changes in legislation or statutory guidance;  
(d) best practice across the public sector, and / or  
(e) any other relevant information. 
 

 
2.4 When can the Constitution be changed and by whom?  
 
Full Council delegates authority to the Monitoring Officer to amend the Constitution if the 
change is:  
 
(a) minor or required to remove an inconsistency, ambiguity or typographical error;  
(b) required to put into effect any decision of the Council or its Committees; or  
(c) required to comply with a legislative provision,  

 
provided that the change is reported to the next meeting of Full Council.  
 
The change will take effect on the date decided by the Monitoring Officer or, where 
appropriate, the date set out in the relevant legislation. 
  

4.2 This report details the proposed changes to the Constitution, both those that require 
approval of Full Council, and those that can be authorised by the Monitoring Officer, 
under the delegated powers as outlined in the Constitution at Section 2.4 of the 
Constitution.  

 
AMENDMENTS FOR APPROVAL AT FULL COUNCIL: 
 
4.3  The committee are asked to approve the following schedule of suggested amendments 

to the Constitution to be taken to Full Council for consideration: 
 

Para 
Number 

Current Wording Amended Wording Reason for Change 

4.8.4 (d) The Chair may, following 
consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer and 
Group Leaders, amend the 
order of business before or 
during the meeting.    
 

The Chair may, following 
consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer, amend 
the order of business 
before or during the 
meeting.    
 

Refers to Full Council.  
 
Remove words ‘and group 
leaders’.  
 
Not reflective of current 
practice and does not 
provide parity for those not 
in a group.  
 

4.8.17 (a) The total time permitted for 
questions on notice from 
Members (apart from at 
the Budget Meeting) is 45 

The total time permitted for 
questions with prior 
indication from Members 
(apart from at the Budget 

Conflicts with 4.8.15 (g) 
which says  
 

Page 8



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

minutes, which may be 
extended by the Chair at 
their discretion for a further 
15 minutes. 

Meeting) is 45 minutes, 
which may be extended by 
the Chair at their discretion 
for a further 15 minutes. 

'A time limit of 30 minutes 
will apply to questions from 
Members on notice'.  
 
Change from questions ‘on 
notice’ to questions ‘with 
prior indication’ to ensure 
clarity.  
 
Where there is any other 
reference to ‘questions 
with prior indication’ the 
time limit will also be 
amended from "no limit" to 
45 mins plus 15 min. 
 

10.8.4 The Chief Officer 
Committee or its sub-
committee may be 
required to convene as a 
matter of urgency to 
discharge disciplinary and 
dismissal procedures, as 
set out in the Officer 
Employment Procedure 
Rules (see paragraph 
9.11). 

New paragraph to be 
inserted at 10.8.5 and 
remaining section 
numbering adjusted: 
 
Where the establishment 
of a sub-committee is 
required, all members shall 
be notified. The first three 
members who confirm their 
availability will be 
appointed. Sub-
committees are not 
required to reflect political 
proportionality. 
 

To provide clarity as to 
how the sub-committees 
will be convened.  

 
 
AMENDMENTS AUTHORISED BY MONITORING OFFICER UNDER DELEGATED 
POWERS 
 
4.4 The committee are asked to note the following schedule of amendments to the 

Constitution authorised by the Monitoring Officer under delegated powers: 
 

Para 
Number 

Current Wording Amended Wording Reason for Change 

4.8.7 The order of business at 
ordinary meetings of Full 
Council will be as follows:  
 
(i) elect a person to 
preside if the Chair of the 
Council and Vice Chair are 
not present;  
 
(ii) receive any apologies 
for absence;  
 
(iii) receive any 
declarations of interest 
from Members;  
 

The order of business at 
ordinary meetings of Full 
Council will be as follows:  
 
(i) elect a person to 
preside if the Chair of the 
Council and Vice Chair are 
not present;  
 
(ii) receive any apologies 
for absence;  
 
(iii) receive any 
declarations of interest 
from Members;  
 

To reflect the established 
practice of having a 
separate item for the 
Mayor on the agenda to 
enable questions to be 
asked from members on 
the content of the reports 
with prior indication. 
 
This is a minor change as 
it simply reflects current 
practice.   

Page 9



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

(iv) approve the minutes of 
the last meeting;  
 
(v) receive any 
announcements from the 
Chair of the Council;  
 
(vi) receive any 
announcement from the 
Head of Paid Service;  
 
(vii) receive written 
updates from Executive 
Members, and deal with 
questions and answers 
arising therefrom from 
Members in accordance 
with CPR 4.8.15(h) to (j);  
 
(viii) receive questions 
from, and provide answers 
to, the public in 
accordance with the 
provisions of CPR 4.8.15 
(a) to (d);  
 
(ix) receive petitions in 
accordance with CPR 
4.8.32 to 4.8.33;  
 
(x) receive reports, 
questions from Members 
(in accordance with CPR 
4.8.15 (h) to (j)) and 
answers arising therefrom, 
from:  
a. the Executive;  
b. Non-executive 
Committees;  
c. Overview and Scrutiny 
Board;  
d. Governance Statutory 
Chief Officers  
 
(xi) receive any reports 
about, or minutes from, 
and receive questions and 
answers arising therefrom 
(in accordance with CPR 
4.8.15 (h) to (j)) on the 
business of joint 
arrangements and external 
organisations 
 
(xii) consider any other 
business specified in the 
summons to the meeting;  
 
(xiii) deal with questions on 
notice from Members in 

(iv) approve the minutes of 
the last meeting;  
 
(v) receive any 
announcements from the 
Chair of the Council;  
 
(vi) receive any 
announcement from the 
Head of Paid Service;  
 
(vii) receive written 
update from the Mayor 
and deal with questions 
and answers arising 
therefrom from Members 
in accordance with CPR 
4.8.15 (h) to (j). 
 
(viii) receive written 
updates from Executive 
Members, and deal with 
questions and answers 
arising therefrom from 
Members in accordance 
with CPR 4.8.15(h) to (j);  
 
(ix) receive questions from, 
and provide answers to, 
the public in accordance 
with the provisions of CPR 
4.8.15 (a) to (d);  
 
(x) receive petitions in 
accordance with CPR 
4.8.32 to 4.8.33;  
 
(xi) receive reports, 
questions from Members 
(in accordance with CPR 
4.8.15 (h) to (j)) and 
answers arising therefrom, 
from:  
a. the Executive;  
b. Non-executive 
Committees;  
c. Overview and Scrutiny 
Board;  
d. Governance Statutory 
Chief Officers  
 
(xii) receive any reports 
about, or minutes from, 
and receive questions and 
answers arising therefrom 
(in accordance with CPR 
4.8.15 (h) to (j)) on the 
business of joint 
arrangements and external 
organisations 

Page 10



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

accordance with CPR 
4.8.15 (e) to (g); and  
 
(xiv) consider any motions 
submitted in accordance 
with CPR 4.8.22 to 4.8.31. 
 

 
(xiii) consider any other 
business specified in the 
summons to the meeting;  
 
(xiv) deal with questions on 
notice from Members in 
accordance with CPR 
4.8.15 (e) to (g); and  
 
(xv) consider any motions 
submitted in accordance 
with CPR 4.8.22 to 4.8.31. 
 

 
5. Ward Member Engagement if relevant and appropriate 
 
5.1 Not applicable – Constitution and Member Development Committee is the relevant 

committee to consider any amendments to the Constitution and make 
recommendations to Full Council.  

 
6. Other potential alternative(s) and why these have not been recommended 

 
6.1 Do nothing – If the Constitution remains unchanged, it risks becoming outdated and 

failing to reflect current working practices. The proposed revisions aim to enhance 
clarity and improve usability. 
 

7. Impact(s) of the recommended decision(s) 
 

Topic Impact 

Financial (including 
procurement and 
Social Value) 

There is no direct financial impact as the amendments 
recommended improve clarity and usability only.  

Legal  There are no legal implications as the amendments 
recommended improve clarity and usability only and are still 
in line with relevant legislation.  
 

Risk The amendments recommended provide clarity in the 
identified areas and therefore improve the risk associated 
with governance and decision making.  
 

Human Rights, Public 
Sector Equality Duty 
and Community 
Cohesion 

There is no change to the impact on Human Rights, Public 
Sector Equality Duty and Community Cohesion. 

Reducing Poverty   There is no change to the impact on Reducing Poverty. 
 

Climate Change / 
Environmental  

There is no change to the impact on Climate Change / 
Environmental. 
 

Children and Young 
People Cared for by 

There is no change to the impact on Children and Young 
People Cared for by the Authority and Care Leavers. 

Page 11



 

This document was classified as: OFFICIAL 

the Authority and 
Care Leavers 

Data Protection There is no change to the impact on Data Protection. 
 

 
 
Actions to be taken to implement the recommended decision(s) 
 

Action Responsible Officer Deadline 

Constitution to be updated with 
the changes approved by the 
Monitoring Officer  

Ann-Marie Wilson – Head of Legal 
Services (People) 

18th December 2025 

Online version of the 
Constitution to be updated to 
reflect the changes.  

Ann-Marie Wilson – Head of Legal 
Services (People) 

24th December 2025 

Report to Full Council for a 
decision on the approved 
recommendations 

Charlotte Benjamin 14th January 2025 

Constitution to be updated with 
any changes approved by Full 
Council 

Ann-Marie Wilson – Head of Legal 
Services (People) 

21st January 2025 

Online version of the 
Constitution to be updated to 
reflect the changes.  

Ann-Marie Wilson – Head of Legal 
Services (People) 

28th January 2025 

 
Appendices 
 

1 None 

2  

3  

 
Background papers 
 

Body Report title Date 

Full Council Report Refresh of the Constitution 10th September 2025 
 

 

Contact:  Charlotte Benjamin – Director of Legal and Governance Services  
Email:   charlotte_benjamin@middlesbrough.gov.uk  
 

 

Page 12


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the Constitution and Members' Development Committee - 20 August 2025
	5 Constitution Updates - Quarterly Report

